FISEVIER

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Biochemical Pharmacology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/biochempharm



Review

Molecularly targeted therapy in hepatocellular carcinoma

Hung Huynh*

Laboratory of Molecular Endocrinology, Division of Molecular and Cellular Research, National Cancer Centre, Level 6, Lab 1, 11 Hospital Drive, Singapore 169610, Singapore

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 21 January 2010 Accepted 29 March 2010

Keywords: Hepatocellular carcinoma Molecular therapies Tyrosine kinase inhibitors

ABSTRACT

With an annual incidence of over 660,000 deaths, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is the third leading cause of cancer death globally. This disease is often diagnosed at an advanced stage, when potentially curative therapies are not feasible. HCC is highly resistant to conventional systemic therapies and prognosis for advanced HCC patients remains poor. Given the clear need, clinical development of novel therapeutic agents in HCC has begun in earnest. Our recent knowledge of the molecular mechanisms responsible of tumor initiation and progression has identified several potential molecular targets in HCC. These targets are the receptor tyrosine kinase-activated pathways, which include the Raf/MEK/ERK, PI-3K/Akt/mTOR, and Jak/Stat. Sorafenib is the multikinase inhibitor that has shown modest survival benefits in advanced HCC in two randomized controlled trials, supporting the use of molecularly targeted therapies in treatment of HCC. A number of strategies including monoclonal antibodies and tyrosine kinase inhibitors such as erlotinib, sunitinib, vandetanib, cediranib, brivanib, foretinib, and dovitinib have been developed and tested in various phases of clinical trials. The successful development of these novel targeted agents in the future will be dependent on the selection of patient populations that are most likely to derive clinical benefit, optimization of the dose used and schedules, and investigation of combined therapies. This review describes evolving molecular targeted agents, their common adverse side effects, and its potential use in management of HCC.

© 2010 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	550		
2.	Targeting angiogenesis and RTKs for the treatment of HCC	552		
	2.1. Targeting VEGF/VEGFR/FGFR/PDGFR pathways	552		
	2.1.1. Monoclonal antibody targeting VEGF	552		
	2.1.2. Multikinase inhibitors that target angiogenesis	553		
	2.2. Targeting EGFR pathway	554		
	2.3. Targeting the IGFR pathway	554		
	2.4. Targeting the c-Met pathway	555		
3.	Targeting the intracellular kinases for the treatment of HCC	555		
	3.1. Targeting the Raf/MEK/ERK pathway	555		
	3.2. Targeting the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway	555		
	3.3. Targeting the Jak/Stat pathway	556		
4.	Discussion	556		
5.	Conclusion	557		
Acknowledgements				
	References	557		

1. Introduction

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is a major health problem, accounting for more than 660,000 new cases per year worldwide

[1–3]. Despite the available treatment options, the incidence still nearly equals to the mortality rate. More than 80% of patients with HCC have inoperable disease with very poor prognosis [4]. Therefore, potentially curative treatment like locoregional ablation, surgical resection or liver transplantation can be achieved only in a minority of HCC patients [5]. Because of the frequent presence of recurrence, metastasis or the

^{*} Tel.: +65 6436 8347; fax: +65 6226 5694. E-mail address: cmrhth@nccs.com.sg.

development of new primaries [6,7], 5-year survival rate is limited to 25–50% after surgery [8]. Thus, a large number of patients are eligible for systemic therapy. Most of the HCCs are developed in cirrhotic liver [9,10] and the cirrhosis severely compromises liver function. It is often the condition of the remaining liver that dictates the final treatment options. Therefore, HCC patients not only require effective agents to treat the tumor, but there is also significant unmet need for drugs that stabilize and treat the underlying liver disease.

Over the years, chemotherapy remained the only systemic approach for the treatment of HCC. Metaanalysis evaluating 37 randomized clinical trials of systemic and regional chemotherapies, hormonal therapy and immunotherapy in HCC patients demonstrated almost complete lack of efficacy [5,11]. Novel chemotherapeutic agents analyzed in recent clinical trials were associated with response rates varying between 0 and 23% and median survival below 9.0 months [12]. A regimen of cisplatin, IFN-alpha2b, doxorubicin and 5-FU increased the response rate

Table 1Molecularly targeted agents that are approved or in development for the treatment of HCC and various cancers.

Compound	Indication	Stage of development	Mechanism of action
Sorafenib (Nexavar TM)	Marketed for RCC and HCC; Treatment of GIST and various cancers	FDA approved for the treatment of advanced RCC and HCC; Clinical development for a range of solid tumor types	A multikinase inhibitor that targets Raf kinases and the VEGFR 1-3, PDGFR-β, c-kit, Flt3 and p38
Sunitinib (SUTENT)	Marketed for RCC and GIST; Treatment of various cancers, including HCC	FDA approved for the treatment of advanced RCC and imatinib-resistant or intolerant GIST; Clinical development for a range of solid tumor types, including breast, lung, colorectal and HCC	A multikinase inhibitor that targets VEGFR 1-3, PDGFR- α and β , FMS-like tyrosine kinase, c-KIT, RET and colony-stimulating factor receptor type 1
Brivanib (BMS-582664)	Treatment of various cancers, including breast, lung, CRC and HCC	Evaluated in various phases of clinical trials including Phase III development for the treatment of HCC	Dual tyrosine kinase inhibitor that targets VEGFR-2 and FGFR-1
Cediranib (AZD2171, Recentin)	Treatment of breast cancer, glioblastoma, NSCLC, CRC	Evaluated in various phases of clinical trials as single agent or in combination with selected chemotherapies	A tyrosine kinase inhibitor that targets VEGFRs
Dovitinib lactate (TKI258; CHIR-258)	Treatment of breast cancer, urothelial carcinoma, and other solid tumors	Phase II development for breast cancer and advanced urothelial carcinoma	A multikinase inhibitor that targets FGFR3, VEGFRs, FGFR1 and PDGFR
Foretinib (GSK-1363089, XL-880)	Treatment of HCC, gastric cancer, and various cancers	Phase I/II development for gastric cancer and HCC	A dual kinase inhibitor that targets c-Met and VEGFRs
TSU-68 (SU 6668)	Treatment of various solid tumors including CRC and HCC	Phase II development for HCC	A multikinase inhibitor that targets VEGFR, PDGFR and FGFR
Erlotinib (Tarceva)	Treatment of EGFR positive tumors including NSCLC, pancreastic cancer and HCC	FDA approved for treatment of pancreastic cancer and NSCLC. Phase II development for advanced HCC	A tyrosine kinase inhibitor that targets EGFR
Lapatinib	Treatment of various solid tumors including breast and lung cancer.	FDA approved for treatment of advanced metastatic breast cancer in conjunction with the chemotherapy drug capecitabine; Phase II development for advanced HCC	A dual tyrosine kinase inhibitor that targets EGFR and HER2
AZD6244	Use in combination with standard doses of selected chemotherapies or targeted agents for treatment of various cancers	Phase II development for malignant melanoma, metastatic pancreatic cancer, CRC, and advanced metastatic NSCLC	A kinase inhibitor that targets MEK
Gefitinib	Treatment of NSCLC and EGFR/Her2-dependent tumors	FDA limits use of gefitinib for NSCLC	A tyrosine kinase inhibitor that targets EGFR
ABT-869	Treatment of HCC and various tumors	Phase II development for HCC and Phase I for various solid tumors	A multikinase inhibitor that targets VEGF and PDGF receptor families
Axitinib (AG013736)	Treatment of breast cancer, RCC, pancreatic cancer, and several other tumor types	Phase III development for advanced pancreastic cancer; Phase II development for RCC, melanoma, thyroid carcinoma, NSCLC	A multikinase inhibitor that targets VEGFR1-3, PDGFR, and c-Kit
Motesanib diphosphate (AMG 706)	Treatment of thyroid and other solid tumors	Phase I development for thyroid cancer	A multikinase inhibitor that targets VEGFRs, PDGFR, and c-Kit
Vandetanib	Treatment of gliomas, NSCLC, biliary tract cancer	Phase II development for brain tumors and biliary tract cancer	A multikinase inhibitor that targets VEGFR-2, VEGFR-3, and EGFR
Pazopanib (GW-786034)	Treatment of RCC, multiple myeloma, NSCLC, and other	Phase III development for RCC; Phase II development for multiple	A multikinase inhibitor that targets VEGFR-1 to 3, PDGFRs,
Vatalanib	solid tumors Treatment of GIST, CRC, lymphoma, pancreastic tumors and other solid tumors	myeloma and NSCLC Phase III development for GIST; Phase III development for metastatic CRC	and c-kit A multikinase inhibitor that targets VEGFR-1 and -2 PDGFR-β,
XL-184	Treatment of NSCLC, glioblastoma, lymphoma,	Phase II development for glioblastoma multiforme; A phase IB/II trial for NSCLC;	c-Kit, FLT-4 and c-FMS A multikinase inhibitor that targets c-Met, VEGFR-2, c-Kit,
BIBF 1120	thyroid carcinoma Treatment of prostate cancer, ovarian cancer, NSCLC	Phase III development for thyroid carcinoma Phase II development for prostate cancer; Phase III development for ovarian cancer, NSCLC	and Tie-2 A multikinase inhibitor that targets VEGFR, PDGFR and FGFR
Regorafenib (BAY 73-4506)	Treatment of RCC, HCC and other solid tumors	Phase II development for RCC	A dual tyrosine kinase inhibitor that targets VEGFR-2 and Tie2

from 10.5 to 20.9% and median survival from 6.8 to 8.7 months compared with doxorubicin alone, but the differences were not statistically significant and the combined regimen was associated with greater toxicity [13]. Because the lack of survival benefits of treatment with conventional drugs [14], new agents and novel therapeutic strategies are urgently needed.

The highly vascular nature of HCC reflects profound activation of angiogenic signaling pathways, many of which are activated through receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), resulting in activation of various signaling pathways including Raf, mitogen-activated protein extracellular kinase (MEK) and extracellular signalregulated kinase (ERK) (Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK), janus kinase (Jak)/ signal transducers and activators of transcription (Stat) (Jak/Stat), and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) (PI3K/AKT/mTOR). These provide rational targets for innovative HCC therapies. Many targeted agents such as monoclonal antibodies (bevacizumab and cetuximab), small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors (Table 1) and serine-threonine kinase inhibitors (temsirolimus and everolimus) have already been tested in various phases of clinical trials and some of them have recently entered phase III studies. In late 2007, sorafenib, a targeted antiangiogenic agent, was approved for the treatment of unresectable HCC. As the first anti-cancer drug to improve survival in patients advanced HCC, sorafenib has paved the way for novel therapies in the treatment of patients with HCC. Sorafenib is now the standard care among patients with advanced HCC or those who have progressed from earlier stages [15].

2. Targeting angiogenesis and RTKs for the treatment of HCC

Many growth factors, RTKs, and the downstream signaling pathways of RTKs are deregulated in HCC. These have added an important new dimension for treatment, and the opportunity to design HCC-specific targeted treatment approaches. Targets include growth factor receptors [the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), the fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR), the hepatocyte growth factor receptor (c-Met), the platelet growth factor receptor (PDGFR), insulin-like growth factor receptor (IGFR), and the VEGF receptor, and signal transduction pathways responsible for the proliferation, invasion, metastasis, or survival of tumor cells such as the Raf/MEK/ERK, PI3K/Akt/mTOR, and Jak/ Stat. There is a strong rationale for using different antibodies or small molecule inhibitors, which are currently in clinical use or under early clinical or preclinical evaluation, to block these pathways at different levels. The following section will provide an overview of molecular targets identified in HCC and targeted agents, which are currently used or in the development for the treatment of HCC.

2.1. Targeting VEGF/VEGFR/FGFR/PDGFR pathways

VEGF, PDGF and basic FGF (bFGF; FGF-2) are three important pro-angiogenic factors that play an important role in the neovascularization, invasiveness, and metastatic potential of HCC [16–18]. The VEGFR-1 and -2 are expressed on endothelial cells and provide activating and survival signals to these cells [19]. Activation of VEGFR family RTKs and, in particular, of VEGFR-2 by VEGF plays a primary role in tumor angiogenesis. Elevated VEGF is associated with postoperative recurrence and poor prognosis in HCC [20,21]. VEGF expression is detected in dysplastic nodules, and increases during hepatocarcinogenesis (reviewed in [22]). PDGF overexpression has been linked to the increased metastatic potential of HCC [23]. PDGF is also angiogenic for microvascular sprouting endothelial cells, and PDGFRs are required for recruiting pericytes and smooth muscle cells around nascent vessel sprouts [24]. PDGFR inhibition has been shown to cause pericyte

detachment from the endothelium, leaving endothelial cells more susceptible to VEGF inhibition [25]. High expression of bFGF is detected in patients with HCC [16,26]. It functions as a mitogen for HCC cell proliferation via an autocrine mechanism, and enhances the development and progression of HCC by binding to FGFR-1 [27]. Basic FGF stimulates the release and activity of collagenases, proteases, and integrins on the extracellular membrane to form nascent microvascular networks [28]. The expression of heparanase in connection with bFGF enhances growth, invasion, and angiogenesis of the tumor [29]. Indeed, in a clinical study of patients undergoing resection of HCC, a high preoperative serum bFGF level appeared to be predictive of invasive tumor and early postoperative recurrence [18]. Furthermore, bFGF has been shown to synergistically augment VEGF-mediated HCC development and angiogenesis [30]. Clinical and translational studies showed that FGF blockade may circumvent resistance to VEGFR modulating agents (reviewed in [31]), suggesting that it may play a role in "escape mechanisms" implicated in VEGF/VEGFR targeting. Accordingly, novel antiangiogenic therapies targeting FGF to synergize with VEGF-mediated antiangiogenesis may provide a mechanism to overcome resistance to VEGF-targeted agents in HCC. Given that VEGF, FGF and PDGF expression is correlated with metastatic potential of tumor cells and the degree of microvessel density [32-34], inhibitors of VEGF, FGF and PDGF signalings are promising therapeutic agents for HCC treatment.

2.1.1. Monoclonal antibody targeting VEGF

Bevacizumab (Avastin) is a humanized monoclonal antibody that neutralizes all isoforms of VEGF. In HCC xenograft model. bevacizumab significantly decreased vessel density and prolonged time to progression of tumor-bearing mice [35]. In a phase II clinical trial 46 patients with locally advanced HCC, objective clinical responses to bevacizumab were observed in 13% and disease stabilization lasting at least 6 months in 65% of patients. Median PFS was 6.9 months [36]. Most drug-related adverse events were hypertension, hemorrhage, and arterial thromboembolism. In another phase II study among 38 evaluable patients, bevacizumab induced 16% PR and 47% SD [37]. Currently, bevacizumabbased approaches are being tested in clinical trials, especially in combination with either conventional cytostatics or with other targeted agents in order to block several carcinogenic pathways. Our recent study showed that bevacizumab plus rapamycin treatment inhibited HCC growth to a greater degree than monotherapies [38]. A phase II trial conducted in patients with advanced HCC evaluates the efficacy of a combination of erlotinib and bevacizumab [39]. Ten patients achieved a partial response for a confirmed overall response rate of 25%. The median PFS was 39 weeks and the median overall survival was 68 weeks.

Even though blocking the VEGF pathway has been shown to prevent tumor progression in the short-term, eventual progression of disease in the presence of VEGF/VEGFR therapies has been observed in clinical studies [40-42]. A multitude of mechanisms of escape has been proposed that may enable tumors to evade and resist antiangiogenic therapy. Intrinsic anti-VEGF resistance has been shown to be associated with infiltration of the tumor tissue by bone marrow-derived cells. Intrinsic resistance can occur as a result of tumor cells using existing blood vessels in vasculaturerich organs or as a result of the absence of VEGF or VEGFR in metastatic tumors in certain organ sites [43]. The most immediate mechanism of acquired resistance is the increased reliance on alternative pro-angiogenic factors that do not use the VEGF pathway. Acquired resistance to anti-VEGFR-2 antibodies was shown in one study to be caused by the redundancy of angiogenesis stimulators, demonstrated by upregulation of FGF in a pancreatic tumor after anti-VEGFR antibody treatment. In clinical studies, bevacizumab was shown to increase circulating levels of placental growth factor (PLGF) [44], stromal derived growth factor 1a, CXCR4, CXCL6, and neuropilin 1 [45] while sunitinib induced high levels of VEGF and PLGF that reverted to normal levels during drug-free periods [46]. Basic FGF and PDGF have been shown to synergistically promote tumor angiogenesis in mouse models [47], suggesting that two or more growth factors could act synergistically. These effects may contribute to the rapid vascular regrowth that has been observed in tumors after removal of VEGF inhibition [48]. Rapid vascular remodeling of tumorassociated vessels is thought to be another cause of resistance. Therefore, improvement of our understanding of the mechanism for angiogenic resistance may provide insights into predictive markers that can be used to determine which patients are most likely to benefit from angiogenic therapy. They also help to develop new approaches to overcome resistance, which might include the use of broad-acting and more potent antiangiogenic compounds, or combination treatments with drugs that overcome redundancies in signaling pathways.

2.1.2. Multikinase inhibitors that target angiogenesis

Sorafenib is a multikinase inhibitor targeting the Raf serine/ threonine kinases and the VEGFR1-3, PDGFR-β, c-Kit, Flt3 and p38 tyrosine kinases [49,50], which block the VEGF and PDGFdependent angiogenesis [49]. Sorafenib has been shown to stop tumor cells growth, induce apoptosis of HCC cell lines, and inhibit the growth of HCC xenografts through inhibition of angiogenesis, induction of apoptosis, and suppression of phospho-eIF4G and Mcl-1, and inactivation of the mTOR pathway [51,52]. A review of four phase I studies of sorafenib has demonstrated that sorafenib was generally well tolerated. Maximum-tolerated dose of sorafenib was 400 mg twice daily. Most drug-related adverse events at any grade included fatigue, anorexia, diarrhea, rash/desquamation, and hand-foot skin reaction [53]. Sorafenib has successfully undergone phase III trials [54,55]. Survival rates at 1 year were 44% in the sorafenib group and 33% in the placebo group. This significant survival benefit represents a 31% relative reduction in the risk of death [54]. The positive data obtained in the phase III trial have been validated in an Asian trial [55]. Despite obvious clinical efficacy of sorafenib, many patients turn out to be refractory to this therapy. Therefore, the approach of combining sorafenib with "conventional" means or other targeted agents of tumor therapy is most likely to find its way into clinical application in near future. A randomized phase II study of doxorubicin and sorafenib versus doxorubicin alone in the front-line setting improved median survival from 6.5 to 13.7 months, although the study was not designed to detect differences between treatments [56]. Other targeted agents such as mTOR inhibitors (everolimus or rapamycin) or MEK inhibitors also have a role in combination with sorafenib [51,57]. A phase III randomized, placebo controlled, double-blind trial of sorafenib plus erlotinib versus sorafenib plus placebo as first-line systemic treatment for unresectable advanced or metastatic Child-Pugh A HCC is ongoing (NCT00901901).

Recently, a new small molecule inhibitor called regorafenib (BAY 73-4506) was developed. The antiangiogenic activity found with regorafenib treatment is due to its distinct dual targeted VEGFR-2/Tie2 inhibition [58]. Regorafenib was recently tested in phase II clinical trial for the treatment of patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma (RCC). This multicenter, open-label, singlearm study of regorafenib enrolled 49 previously untreated patients with metastatic or unresectable, predominantly clear-cell RCC. Regorafenib (160 mg) was administered once daily on a 3 weeks on/1 week off schedule. Treatment with regorafenib resulted in a 31% partial response rate and 50% stabilization rate in patients with metastatic RCC [58]. The most common drug-related adverse events were hand-foot skin reaction, fatigue, hypertension,

mucositis, diarrhea, alopecia, rash, voice changes, anorexia, nausea, constipation and vomiting. Clinical trials are needed to determine the relative efficacy of regorafenib in comparison with sorafenib in patients with HCC.

Sunitinib malate targets receptor tyrosine kinases of VEGFR1-3, PDGFR-α, PDGFR-β, FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3, c-KIT, RET and colony-stimulating factor receptor type 1, some of which have been implicated in tumor growth angiogenesis and metastasis [59-64]. Sunitinib has demonstrated antiangiogenic efficacy [65,66] and is approved internationally for the treatment of advanced RCC and imatinib-resistant or -intolerant GIST. In preclinical study, sunitinib also suppressed tumor growth of five HCC xenografts [67]. The safety of sunitinib has been evaluated in two open-label phase II trials conducted in USA, Europe and Asia, respectively [68,69] (reviewed in [70]). Dose-limiting toxicities reported at the maximum-tolerated dose >75 mg/day were grade 3 fatigue, grade 3 hypertension, and grade 2 skin toxicity. At the dose of 50 mg/day, the main adverse effects were bleeding, sore mouth, edema, and thrombocytopenia [71]. The antitumor efficacy of sunitinib was demonstrated by a progression-free survival of 3.9 months and a disease-control rate of 52% [68]. In European and Asian populations, sunitinib was associated with a disease-control rate of 37.8%. One patient experienced a confirmed partial response [69], suggesting some antitumor activity for sunitinib but the objective response seemed to be modest [72]. The results of the available phase II trials indicate a more intense antitumoral effect than sorafenib when assessing the appearance of tumor necrosis rather than the tumor size. A dose of 50 mg/day is associated with major side effects such as bleeding and death [73]. and a lower dose seems to reduce this incidence but does not really eliminate it [68]. Despite the lack of a direct comparison of sunitinib versus sorafenib in the same patient population in randomized phase II studies, a multinational randomized phase III trial to evaluate the safety and efficacy of sunitinib compared with sorafenib in patients with advanced HCC is actively recruiting [74]. This study will provide important information on the relative efficacy and safety profile of sunitinib in comparison with sorafenib. If the results show that sunitinib is lesser efficacy than sorafenib in HCC then combining sunitinib with either other targeted agents or chemotherapy represent alternative strategies, but these combinations will need to be examined carefully for tolerability and safety in specific Phase I studies in HCC.

Brivanib is an oral, dual inhibitor of VEGFR-2 and FGFR-1 tyrosine kinases. Brivanib inhibits both VEGF- and bFGF-stimulated human umbilical vascular endothelial cell growth in vitro. In preclinical study, brivanib significantly suppressed tumor growth in six HCC xenograft lines when dosed orally on a once-a-day schedule [75]. Furthermore, the brivanib-induced growth inhibition was associated with increased apoptosis, inhibition of angiogenesis and cell proliferation, and down-regulation of cell cycle regulators. In the phase I study of brivanib alaninate conducted in patients with advanced or metastatic solid tumors, grade 3/4 adverse events included fatigue, elevated transaminase, diarrhea, hypertension and platelets were observed [76]. A phase I study of brivanib alaninate in patients with renal cell carcinoma and HCC [77] has shown evidence of antitumor activity with two confirmed partial responses in patients receiving brivanib alaninate at \geq 600 mg and six patients with stable disease at \geq 6 months. The majority of adverse events were nausea, vomiting and diarrhea, fatigue, hypertension and reversible transaminitis. The most frequently reported grade 3/4 toxicities were fatigue and reversible transaminitis [77]. A phase II, open-label study conducted to evaluate the effects of brivanib alaninate 800 mg as either first-line or second-line therapy in patients with unresectable locally advanced or metastatic HCC has recently been reported [78]. The study included two patient cohorts. Cohort

A included patients who had received no prior systemic therapy for HCC and cohort B included patients who progressed following receipt of one prior antiangiogenic agent. Overall, 55 patients were included in cohort A, of which 64% were Asian; 46 patients were included in cohort B, 43 (94%) of whom had failed sorafenib therapy and 3 (6%) of whom had failed therapy with thalidomide. Interim analyses from this study have shown that 6 of 47 evaluable patients in cohort A had a partial response (2 unconfirmed), with a disease-control rate of 60%. First-line treatment with brivanib alaninate was also associated with a median time to progression (TTP) of 2.8 months and a median overall survival of 10 months [78]. In cohort B, 1 of 37 evaluable patients had a partial response and 16 had stable disease following second-line treatment with brivanib alaninate; the disease-control rate was 46%. Second-line treatment with brivanib alaninate was also associated with a median investigator-assessed TTP of 2.7 months and a median overall survival of 9.8 months. The most frequently reported grade 3/4 adverse events across the two cohorts were fatigue, hypertension and diarrhea. Serious adverse events included grade 3 encephalopathy; grade 3/4 abdominal pain; grade 3 diarrhea; grade 3 vomiting, asthenia [78]. Based on these encouraging results, a phase III randomized study of brivanib versus sorafenib in the front-line setting is planned to explore the potential additional clinical efficacy of brivanib provided through inhibition of FGFR (NCT00858871). Another randomized, double-blind, multicenter phase III study of brivanib versus placebo as adjuvant therapy to transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) in patients with unresectable HCC is to assess the benefits of using brivanib systemic therapy in combination with localized TACE therapy compared with TACE plus placebo (NCT00908752).

Dovitinib lactate (TKI258; formerly CHIR-258) is the orally bioavailable lactate salt of a benzimidazole-quinolinone compound with potential antineoplastic activity. Dovitinib targets VEGFR1-3; PDGFR-β; FGFR1-3; FLT-3; and cKIT, Ret, TrkA, and csf-1 RTKs [79]. Dovitinib showed a dose- and exposure-dependent inhibition of RTKs expressed in tumor xenografts and stromal components in several preclinical models [80]. Dovitinib inhibited PDGFR-B and ERK phosphorylation within 2 h following dosing, and this was sustained for 24 h [79]. In leukemia xenograft models, it induced tumor regression and eradication of AML cells from the bone marrow and decreased cellular proliferation [80]. In human colon xenograft models, dovitinib inhibited VEGFR-1 and -2, FGFR-1 and -3 and PDGFR-B and had antitumor and antiangiogenic activity [79]. A phase dose finding study of TKI258 has shown that TKI258 is safe and well tolerated at dose below 500 mg/day. The most frequent drug-related adverse events were grade fatigue, diarrhea, and dehydration [81]. A phase II open-label study to delineate the safety and efficacy of dovitinib in FGFR-1 amplified and non-amplified metastatic HER2 negative breast cancer is ongoing (NCT00958971). Another phase II study of dovitinib in advanced urothelial carcinoma aims to evaluate the efficacy of dovitinib in patients with advanced urothelial cancer (NCT00790426). Current there are no clinical trials to evaluate the efficacy of dovitinib in HCC yet. Because FGF, PDGF and VEGF are required for survival, angiogenesis, cell migration, cell division, suppression of the VEGFR/FGFR/PDGFR by dovitinib may represent a novel approach for treatment of HCC. Preclinical studies are under way to study this possibility.

2.2. Targeting EGFR pathway

EGFR is expressed in a high proportion of HCCs and proliferation of HCC cells depends on stimulation of EGFR by TGF- α or EGF [82–84]. Therefore EGFR represents a molecular target for therapy of HCC. EGFR inhibitors, such as neutralizing monoclonal antibodies (cetuximab or panitumumab) or tyrosine

kinase inhibitors gefitinib, erlotinib, and lapatinib have shown to inhibit HCC growth and metastasis formation in vitro and in vivo [85-89]. In a phase II study 30 patients with advanced or metastatic HCC received cetuximab, no clinical responses were seen and disease stabilization was observed in 17% of patients. Median PFS and OS were 1.4 and 9.6 months, respectively [90]. In another similar study, 27 advanced HCC patients were administered cetuximab. The disease stabilization rate was 44.4% (no objective responses) and median PFS – 1.8 months [91]. A phase II multicentre study of cetuximab in patients with EGFR-undetectable refractory metastatic CRC has shown that there were four cetuximab-related adverse events greater than grade 3: infusion related reaction, hypomagnesaemia, dyspnea and skin rash [92]. Currently, anti-EGFR-based approaches are being tested in clinical trials, especially in combination with either conventional cytostatics or with other targeted agents. The clinical efficacy of cetuximab combined with standard chemotherapy was analyzed in a multicenter phase II study, which included 43 treatment-naive advanced HCC patients. Patients were treated with cetuximab (standard regimen) and chemotherapy repeated every 2 weeks (gemcitabine + oxaliplatin). The objective response rate was 23% and disease stabilization was observed in 65% of patients [93]. Lapatinib was evaluated in a cohort of 40 patients with advanced HCC in a phase II study [94]. The most frequently reported lapatinibrelated adverse events were diarrhea and rash [95]. The objective response rate was 5%. Median PFS and OS were 2.3 and 6.2 months, respectively. In a similar study in a group of 31 patients, gefitinib induced 3% of objective responses and 22.6% of stable disease. Median PFS and OS were 2.8 and 6.8 months. respectively [96]. A phase II clinical trial with erlotinib for advanced HCC showed good response in approximate one third of the patients and a prolonged survival with mild and tolerate side effects [97]. Dose-limiting toxicities consist of grade 3/4 skin toxicity or diarrhea [97]. Another phase II trial conducted in patients with advanced HCC evaluated the efficacy of a combination of erlotinib and bevacizumab [39]. Ten patients achieved a partial response for a confirmed overall response rate of 25%. The median PFS was 39 weeks and the median overall survival was 68 weeks. Based on the above encouraging results, a randomized phase II study of the combination of bevacizumab and erlotinib compared to sorafenib in the first-line treatment of patients with advanced HCC is conducted (NCT003653391 and NCT00881751).

2.3. Targeting the IGFR pathway

There is evidence that IGF-I and IGF-II and their receptor IGF-1R are involved in the development and progression of HCC. Aberrant activation of IGF signaling pathway resulting from upregulation and activation of IGF-1R were detected in 20% of HCC [98]. Additionally, IGF-II expression was increased in 12-44% of HCC samples [98]. In addition to the increased expression of IGF-II, a simultaneous reduction of IGF binding protein 3 and enhanced proteolytic cleavage of IGFBPs often occurred [99]. Both mechanisms lead to an excessive increase in the amount of bioactive IGF, which further enhances the mito-oncogenic effects of IGFRsignaling in HCC. Upon binding of IGF-I or IGF-II to IGF-1R, downstream cell signaling occurs, with resultant activation of several pathways also common to EGFR, including Ras/Raf/MEK/ ERK, PI-3K/Akt/mTOR, and Jak/Stat. Thus, a promising approach of innovative HCC treatment may be blockade of the IGF/IGFR, but also the Raf/MEK/ERK, Jak/Stat, and mTOR signaling systems, which are functionally upregulated in HCC cells [100–102] and in vivo [103]. In a xenograft HCC model, monoclonal antibody targeting IGF-1R delayed tumor growth and improved survival of treated animals [104]. In a phase I clinical study one patient with heavily pretreated HCC experienced stable disease exceeding 9 months following administration of IMC-A12 monoclonal antibody [105]. So far IGF-1R inhibition appears to be well tolerated in the preliminary clinical studies conducted [106-108]. A phase II study of IMC-A12 in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer has shown that the most common adverse events at least possible related to IMC-A12 were fatigue, hyperglycemia. thrombocytopenia, muscle spasms, leukoencephalopathy [109]. Recently, BMS-754807, a potent and reversible inhibitor of the IGF-1R/insulin receptor (IR) family kinases, is developed. BMS-754807 was active in vivo in multiple xenograft tumor models and showed in vitro synergies when combined with cytotoxic, hormonal, and targeted agents [110]. BMS-754807 is currently in phase I development for the treatment of a variety of human cancers including HCC. Since crosstalk between the IGFR and other RTKs exist [111], IGF therapy has to be combined with other RTK inhibitors to enhance the antiproliferative effect. Support to this concept, it has been shown that concomitant inhibition of IGFR and EGFR enhanced the antineoplastic effect of respective monotherapies [88,112,113].

2.4. Targeting the c-Met pathway

Numerous experimental and clinical data indicate a particular role of HGF and c-Met in growth, survival and invasion by tumor cells. Like EGFR, HGF and c-Met have been implicated in HCC [114,115]. Point mutations in MET have been identified in HCC [116.117]. A study conducted on 18 resected HCC patients found a correlation between overexpression of c-Met mRNA and early stage of the disease but no association with survival [115]. Recent biomarker data from a phase III sorafenib study identified elevated HGF levels as a potential predictor of poor prognosis in HCC [118]. Although the clinical efficacy of targeting c-Met has yet to be determined, several studies with receptor- and ligandspecific antibodies and TKIs are ongoing or in development [119]. Foretinib (GSK1363089; XL-880) is an orally bioavailable small molecule with potential antineoplastic activity. This compound binds to and selectively inhibits c-Met and VEGFR-2, which may result in the inhibition of tumor angiogenesis, tumor cell proliferation and metastasis [120]. A phase I dose escalation study of foretinib has shown that the MTD of foretinib was determined to be 80 mg. Dose-limiting toxicity were hypertension and dehydration at 120 mg/day and diarrhea at 100 mg/day. Frequent adverse events associated with foretinib were hypertension, fatigue, nausea, diarrhea, proteinurea, and increased lactate dehydrogenase [121]. A phase I/II, open-label, multicenter study of foretinib in adult subjects with HCC is ongoing (NCT00920192). The purpose of this study is to assess the safety and tolerability of foretinib when used in the treatment of patients with advanced HCC.

Apart from the above-mentioned drugs, various small molecule inhibitors with various mechanisms of action have been developed for the treatment of HCC and various cancers (Table 1). They include cediranib (AZD2171, Recentin), TSU-68, ABT-869, axitinib (also known as AG013736), BIBF 1120, pazopanib (GW-786034), vandetanib, XL-184, and regorafenib. The future landscape for randomized phase II and III studies of these molecules will be based on head-to-head comparisons with sorafenib.

3. Targeting the intracellular kinases for the treatment of HCC

The biological effects of receptor tyrosine kinase activation are mediated by a complex cascade of intracellular signaling molecules that are potential targets for therapy, including the PI3K/Akt/mTOR, Raf/MEK/ERK, and Jak/Stat pathways.

3.1. Targeting the Raf/MEK/ERK pathway

The Raf/MEK/ERK pathway appears to be one of the most significant cellular signaling sequences in the development and maintenance of HCC [122]. This pathway transduces extracellular signals from ligand-bound RTKs, such as EGFR, IGFR, VEGFR, c-Met and PDGFR to the nucleus. In addition, HCV core protein can directly activate the Raf/MEK/ERK cascade [123]. Overexpression of Raf-1 was shown in 50% of HCC biopsies, while increased activation of Raf-1 protein was found in 100% of the evaluated HCC biopsies [124]. Loss of Raf kinase inhibitor protein was demonstrated to stimulate HCC proliferation and migration [125]. Upregulated activity of the MEK/ERK has been well documented in HCC cell lines, in vivo HCC models and in human HCC specimens [126–128]. Activated ERK regulates cell cycle progression, apoptosis resistance, extracellular matrix remodeling, cellular motility, angiogenesis, and drug resistance. Inhibition of MEK kinase was shown to prevent development of HCC and increase apoptosis in existing HCC tumors in mice [129]. In another study administration of MEK inhibitor resulted in dose-dependent growth inhibition of HCC xenografts [130]. Recent study showed that MEK inhibitor AZD6244 plus rapamycin treatment had antitumor and antiangiogenic effects in preclinical models of human HCC [131]. Sorafenib, a multi tyrosine kinase inhibitor, inhibits Raf-1 [49]. In preclinical study of HCC, sorafenib treatment resulted in suppression of tumor growth, reduction in cell proliferation and induction of apoptosis but upregulation of phospho-c-Raf Ser338 and phospho-ERK Thr202/Tyr204 [57]. Pharmacological inhibition of the MEK/ERK pathway by the MEK inhibitor AZD6244 enhanced the antitumor effect of sorafenib in both orthotopic and ectopic models of HCC [57]. Given the urgent need for effective therapies in HCC, clinical evaluating sorafenib/ AZD6244 and AZD6244/RAPA combinations seem warranted. A phase I/II study of AZD6244 in combination with sorafenib in advanced HCC is planned (NCT01029418). Another phase I/II study of the combination of MEK inhibitor RDEA119 and sorafenib in patients with advanced cancer are ongoing (NCT00785226).

3.2. Targeting the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway

The PI3K/Akt/mTOR protein cascade is one of major signaling pathways associated with RTKs, which have been identified in cancer cells [132]. In HCC, activation of PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway correlates with poor prognosis [133]. Patients with mutations in the catalytic domain of the phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PIK3CA) gene often have elevation of Akt expression and subsequently activation of mTOR [134]. mTOR regulates the phosphorylation of p70S6 serine-threonine kinase (S6K1) and the translational repressor protein PHAS-1/4E-BP, which in turn regulate the expression of VEGF and the translation of proliferation- and angiogenesis-relevant proteins such as c-myc, cyclin-D1, ornithine decarboxylase, and hypoxia-induced factor $1-\alpha$. Phosphorylation of mTOR and S6K1 were detected in human HCC [38,135]. In nontransformed cells the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway is controlled by PTEN, a tumor suppressor, which inhibits this pathway by reversing the PI3K reaction and blocking Akt activation. PTEN expression was reduced or absent in almost half of the studied HCCs, and hepatocyte-specific abrogation of PTEN expression in mice results in the development of HCC [136]. These indicate that targeting the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway may represent an approach for HCC therapy.

PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway may be inhibited at various levels. PI3K inhibitors such as wortmannin, LY294002 and FTY720 have demonstrated some antitumor activity in preclinical HCC models [137,138]. However, the most promising target in this pathway is represented by mTOR. Rapamycin was shown to inhibit prolifera-

tion of HCC cell line in vitro and growth of HCC tumors in animal models [139]. The effectiveness of mTOR blockade with rapamycin analog everolimus (RAD001) has been tested in preclinical HCC models [140]. The preclinical data conducted so far showed that mTOR inhibitors, including rapamycin and RAD001, are promising agents for future HCC therapy. Recently, three analogs of rapamycin with superior pharmacokinetic and biological properties, CCI-779, AP23573, and WYE-125132 have been synthesized and tested in clinical trials for different malignancies [141,142]. A phase I clinical evaluating the efficacy of sirolimus in 21 advanced HCC patients was conducted [143]. One patient experienced partial response and 5 remained progression-free at 3 months. Median overall survival was 6.5 months. Another phase I/II trial evaluating everolimus for advanced HCC is currently starting to recruit patients [144] (NCT00390195). A phase I study of everolimus has shown that everolimus is well tolerated at the dose of 5 mg/m^2 . Dose-limiting toxicities consist of diarrhea, mucositis, and elevation of ALT at 6.5 mg/m² [145]. The use of rapamycin analogs has also been demonstrated to enhance the antineoplastic activity of conventional cytotoxic drugs such as doxorubicin or vinblastine [139,146,147]. Our recent studies showed that rapamycin plus sorafenib [57], rapamycin plus MEK inhibitor AZD6244 [131], or rapamycin plus bevacizumab [38] treatments inhibited HCC growth to a greater degree than monotherapies. These data provide a strong rationale for clinical investigation of these combinations in patients with HCC.

3.3. Targeting the Jak/Stat pathway

The Jak/Stat pathway is activated by more than 40 cytokines and growth factors and is involved in multiple cell functions such as differentiation, proliferation, and apoptosis [148,149]. In this pathway, the cytokines induce phosphorylation of the Janus tyrosine kinases (Jak1, 2 and 3, Tyk2), followed by activation of Stat1-6 [148,149]. Both hepatitis B and C viruses are able to induce Ras and Jak/Stat pathways [150-152]. In HCC, phosphorylation of Jak1, Jak2, and Tyk2 tyrosine kinases was not detected in normal livers but increased significantly from surrounding non-neoplastic livers to HCCs [153]. Activation of Stat1, Stat3, and Stat5 was statistically higher in tumors than in respective surrounding livers, with pStat3 being higher in HCC with poor prognosis than HCC with better prognosis [153]. The levels of Jak/Stat targets, including Bcl-xl, Mcl-1, cyclin D1, and c-Myc were markedly increased in the majority of HCCs [153]. Furthermore, treatment of hepatoma cells with Jak/Stat inhibitor in combination with demethylating agents induces apoptosis [153]. These data demonstrate the importance of Jak/Stat pathway in HCC development and suggest the use of Jak/ Stat inhibitors such as AZD1480 for the treatment of HCC. A phase I/II, open-label multicenter study to assess the safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics and preliminary efficacy of the JAK2 inhibitor AZD1480 administered orally to patients with primary myelofibrosis and post-polycythaemia vera/essential thrombocythaemia myelofibrosis is planned (NCT00910728). It is interesting to determine if AZD1480 has any antitumor activity in HCC.

4. Discussion

Hepatocarcinogenesis is a complex process involving various, diverse signaling pathways. Clinical trials indicate that growth factors such as bFGF, IGFs, VEGF, EGF, HGF and PDGF and its receptors play important roles in HCC cancer etiology and progression, thus providing rational targets for innovative HCC therapy. Antiangiogenic strategies are likely to continue to be important in HCC treatment. Preclinical studies have identified four potential mechanisms of resistance to angiogenesis inhibitors: (1) activation and/or upregulation of alternative angiogenic

signaling pathways by tumor cells; (2) recruitment of bone marrow-derived cells that up-regulate angiogenic pathways; (3) increased pericyte coverage leading to VEGF-independent tumor vasculature; and (4) activation of invasion and/or metastasis mechanisms to supply tumor cells via established vasculature rather than stimulation of new blood vessels. During progression of malignant disease, these mechanisms may play a role in resistance to antiangiogenic therapies. The tumor cells can also become resistant to TKIs, mostly due to new mutations in the tyrosine kinase, drug efflux mechanisms, receptor down-regulation, and loss of tyrosine kinase inhibitor pathways. Studies on determination of molecular pathways responsible for HCC development and progression indicate existence of crosstalk between various levels of different signal transducing cascades and redundant signaling pathways. Understanding these mechanisms is expected to help to identify novel mechanism of resistance to targeted agents and determine molecular targets in complementary pathways, which must be blocked simultaneously. Unfortunately, there is currently no single known inhibitor of all relevant tyrosine kinases in HCC. Therefore, a combination of different agents or a single "unspecific" inhibitor of several pathways may offer advantages over inhibition of a single pathway. The heat shock protein 90 (Hsp90) is an essential chaperone for function and integrity of a wide range of oncogenic client proteins including ErbB2, c-Raf, cdk-4/6, Stat-3, hTERT, IGF-1R, Src, Brc/Abl, Akt, HIF-1 alpha [154,155]. Hsp90 is overexpressed in HCC and its expression is associated with a poor prognosis [156]. Furthermore, Hsp90 inhibition improved the antiangiogenic effects of rapamycin by reducing the expression of PDGFR-B on vascular smooth muscle cells, and diminishing VEGFR-2 expression on endothelial cells [157]. Based on the above information, it appears that targeting Hsp90 may be an attractive strategy in HCC therapy. Several Hsp90 inhibitors such as IPI-504 [158,159], PU-H71 [160], and KOS-953 [161] are undergoing clinical development in patients with various tumors.

Sorafenib is the first medication that is now approved for the treatment of patients with advanced HCC. Although sorafenib has shown a modest survival benefit for patients with early disease, more novel drugs with better efficacy are needed for advanced and sorafenib-resistant HCC patients for whom no other treatment choices exist. Clinical benefits such as seen with brivanib in the first-line setting and after sorafenib highlight the potential to improve the clinical course of patients with advanced HCC. Most if not all TKIs (Table 1) lack substantial benefit when given as monotherapy but create a chronic disease state, which is no longer immediately life threatening. In general, side effects of these newly developed agents are minimal when compared to conventional chemotherapeutic agents. Preclinical evidence of synergistic antitumor achievable by combining targeted agents that block multiple signaling pathways has recently emerged [51,57,131,162–166]. Such combinations could lower the effective dose of each agent but retain comparable or enhanced activity: thus reducing the likelihood of drug toxicity and the selection pressure for drug resistant mutations. Combining multiple small molecule TKIs (erlotinib plus bevacizumab, bevacizumab plus rapamycin, sorafenib plus MEK inhibitor AZD6244), or combining a TKI with conventional chemotherapy (sorafenib plus doxorubicin) and/or radiotherapy are more likely to improve the clinical response in patients with advanced HCC with tolerable and manageable side effects. Our data support the concept that multitargeting HCC cells for advanced treatment efficacy and show that sorafenib plus mTOR or MEK inhibition appear to be a promising combination, warranting further elucidation in clinical trials [51,57]. Furthermore, the use of targeted therapies such as sorafenib might also improve HCC recurrence in patients who undergo resection, local ablation and transarterial chemoembolization, which is currently being tested in several studies. Since, regrowth of HCC tumors following surgery or chemoembolization is associated with rapid angiogenesis, antiangiogenic strategies may prove effective in reducing the relapse rate. If sorafenib in combination with other agents proves to have survival benefits in advanced HCC, future trials should assess whether neoadjuvant treatment with the combination, administered before or after successful ablation or tumor resection or transarterial chemoembolization, may help further to increase survival time and time to tumor recurrence in patients with HCC.

5. Conclusion

Several promising multitargeted molecules are developed and currently under investigation for the treatment of HCC. Unfortunately, HCC patients' tumors are refractory to many targeted therapies. Most of tumor cells harbor multiple genetic defects, and inhibiting one tyrosine kinase may not be sufficient. Even though blocking the angiogenesis has been shown to prevent tumor progression in the short-term, eventual progression of disease in the presence of angiogenic therapies has been observed in clinical studies [40-42]. Therefore, resistance to treatment remains the major challenge to targeted cancer therapy. In case of tyrosine kinase inhibitors having tested or used for treatment of HCC and other malignancies, validated biomarkers are still missing. In the long-term, a useful tool for determining an appropriate treatment strategy for HCC may be the identification of appropriate biomarkers, which may help to establish the extent of disease and predict the effectiveness of treatment in a specific patient. In addition, development of therapeutic approaches based on molecularly targeted drugs must take into account that these agents need be low toxic and attention will have to be paid to the emergence and management of toxicity related to the usage of new agents. Because of the high prevalence of liver cirrhosis in HCC patients, to achieve long-term survival of the majority of patients, targeted anti-cancer therapies will need to be coupled with strategies aimed at reversing the progression of chronic liver disease.

Acknowledgements

Financial Support: This work was supported by grants from the Singapore Millennium Foundation (SMF-HCC) and Singapore Cancer Syndicate (SCS-AS0032, SCS-HS0021 and SCS-AMS0086) to Huynh Hung.

References

- [1] Cancer.org [homepage on the Internet]. American Cancer Society: Global Cancer facts and Figures 2007 [updated 2010; cited 2010 January 16]. Available from: http://www.cancer.org/docroot/home/index.asp.
- [2] Jemal A, Murray T, Ward E, Samuels A, Tiwari RC, Ghafoor A, et al. Cancer statistics, 2005. CA Cancer J Clin 2005;55:10–30.
- [3] Smith RA, Cokkinides V, Eyre HJ. American Cancer Society guidelines for the early detection of cancer, 2005. CA Cancer J Clin 2005;55:31–44.
- [4] Okuda K, Ohtsuki T, Obata H, Tomimatsu M, Okazaki N, Hasegawa H, et al. Natural history of hepatocellular carcinoma and prognosis in relation to treatment. Study of 850 patients. Cancer 1985;56:918–28.
- [5] Llovet JM, Burroughs A, Bruix J. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet 2003;362: 1907–17.
- [6] Huguet C, Stipa F, Gavelli A. Primary hepatocellular cancer: western experience. In: Blumgart L, editor. Surgery of the liver and billary tract. London: Churchill Livingstone; 2000. p. 1365–9.
- [7] Lai EWJ. Hepatocellular carcinoma: the Asian experience. In: Blumgart L, editor. Surgery of the liver and the biliary tract. London: Churchill Livingstone; 1994. p. 1349–63.
- [8] Colombo M. Hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 1992;15:225-36.
- [9] Thorgeirsson SS, Grisham JW. Molecular pathogenesis of human hepatocellular carcinoma. Nat Genet 2002;31:339–46.
- [10] Edmondson HA, Peters RL. Tumors of the liver: pathologic features. Semin Roentgenol 1983;18:75–83.
- [11] Farazi PA, DePinho RA. Hepatocellular carcinoma pathogenesis: from genes to environment. Nat Rev Cancer 2006;6:674–87.

- [12] Thomas M. Molecular targeted therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastroenterol 2009;44(Suppl. 19):136–41.
- [13] Yeo W, Mok TS, Zee B, Leung TW, Lai PB, Lau WY, et al. A randomized phase III study of doxorubicin versus cisplatin/interferon alpha-2b/doxorubicin/fluor-ouracil (PIAF) combination chemotherapy for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 2005;97:1532–8.
- [14] Simonetti RG, Liberati A, Angiolini C, Pagliaro L. Treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Ann Oncol 1997:8:117–36.
- [15] Lopez PM, Patel P, Uva P, Villanueva A, Llovet JM. Current management of liver cancer. Eur J Can Suppl 2007;5(5):444–6.
- [16] Miura H, Miyazaki T, Kuroda M, Oka T, Machinami R, Kodama T, et al. Increased expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in human hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 1997;27:854–61.
- [17] Torimura T, Sata M, Ueno T, Kin M, Tsuji R, Suzaku K, et al. Increased expression of vascular endothelial growth factor is associated with tumor progression in hepatocellular carcinoma. Hum Pathol 1998;29: 986-91.
- [18] Poon RT, Ng IO, Lau C, Yu WC, Fan ST, Wong J. Correlation of serum basic fibroblast growth factor levels with clinicopathological features and postoperative recurrence in hepatocellular carcinoma. Am J Surg 2001;182:298– 304
- [19] Hicklin DJ, Ellis LM. Role of the vascular endothelial growth factor pathway in tumor growth and angiogenesis. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:1011–27.
- [20] Poon RT, Ho JW, Tong CS, Lau C, Ng IO, Fan ST. Prognostic significance of serum vascular endothelial growth factor and endostatin in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Br J Surg 2004;91:1354–60.
- [21] Chao Y, Li CP, Chau GY, Chen CP, King KL, Lui WY, et al. Prognostic significance of vascular endothelial growth factor, basic fibroblast growth factor, and angiogenin in patients with resectable hepatocellular carcinoma after surgery. Ann Surg Oncol 2003;10:355–62.
- [22] Thomas MB, Abbruzzese JL. Opportunities for targeted therapies in hepatocellular carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:8093–108.
- [23] Zhang T, Sun HC, Xu Y, Zhang KZ, Wang L, Qin LX, et al. Overexpression of platelet-derived growth factor receptor alpha in endothelial cells of hepatocellular carcinoma associated with high metastatic potential. Clin Cancer Res 2005;11:8557–63.
- [24] Conway EM, Collen D, Carmeliet P. Molecular mechanisms of blood vessel growth. Cardiovasc Res 2001;49:507–21.
- [25] Pietras K, Hanahan D. A multitargeted, metronomic, and maximum-tolerated dose "chemo-switch" regimen is antiangiogenic, producing objective responses and survival benefit in a mouse model of cancer. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:939–52.
- [26] Mise M, Arii S, Higashituji H, Furutani M, Niwano M, Harada T, et al. Clinical significance of vascular endothelial growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor gene expression in liver tumor. Hepatology 1996;23:455-64.
- [27] Kin M, Sata M, Ueno T, Torimura T, Inuzuka S, Tsuji R, et al. Basic fibroblast growth factor regulates proliferation and motility of human hepatoma cells by an autocrine mechanism. J Hepatol 1997;27:677–87.
- [28] Ingber D. Extracellular matrix and cell shape: potential control points for inhibition of angiogenesis. J Cell Biochem 1991;47:236-41.
- [29] El Assal ON, Yamanoi A, Ono T, Kohno H, Nagasue N. The clinicopathological significance of heparanase and basic fibroblast growth factor expressions in hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 2001;7:1299–305.
- [30] Yoshiji H, Kuriyama S, Yoshii J, Ikenaka Y, Noguchi R, Hicklin DJ, et al. Synergistic effect of basic fibroblast growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor in murine hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 2002;35: 834–42.
- [31] Finn RS. Development of molecularly targeted therapies in hepatocellular carcinoma: where do we go now? Clin Cancer Res 2010;16(2):390–7.
- [32] Yamaguchi R, Yano H, Iemura A, Ogasawara S, Haramaki M, Kojiro M. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in human hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 1998;28:68–77.
- [33] Poon RT, Fan ST, Wong J. Clinical significance of angiogenesis in gastrointestinal cancers: a target for novel prognostic and therapeutic approaches. Ann Surg 2003;238:9–28.
- [34] Jinno K, Tanimizu M, Hyodo I, Nishikawa Y, Hosokawa Y, Doi T, et al. Circulating vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is a possible tumor marker for metastasis in human hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastroenterol 1998;33:376–82.
- [35] Finn RS, Bentley G, Britten CD, Amado R, Busuttil RW. Targeting vascular endothelial growth factor with the monoclonal antibody bevacizumab inhibits human hepatocellular carcinoma cells growing in an orthotopic mouse model. Liver Int 2009;29(2):284–90.
- [36] Siegel AB, Cohen EI, Ocean A, Lehrer D, Goldenberg A, Knox JJ, et al. Phase II trial evaluating the clinical and biologic effects of bevacizumab in unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:2992–8.
- [37] Boige V, Baey C, Dromain C, Ducreux M, Malka D, Pignon J, et al. Circulating endothelial cells (CEC) and angiogenic proteins monitoring in patients (pts) with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) treated with bevacizumab.ln: Proceedings of the 2009 ASCO annual meeting; J Clin Oncol 2009;27:15s [Abstract 4597].
- [38] Huynh H, Chow PK, Palanisamy N, Salto-Tellez M, Goh BC, Lee CK, et al. Bevacizumab and rapamycin induce growth suppression in mouse models of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 2008;49:52–60.

- [39] Thomas MB, Morris JS, Chadha R, Iwasaki M, Kaur H, Lin E, et al. Phase II trial of the combination of bevacizumab and erlotinib in patients who have advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 2009;27:843–50.
- [40] Kerbel RS, Yu J, Tran J, Man S, Viloria-Petit A, Klement G, et al. Possible mechanisms of acquired resistance to anti-angiogenic drugs: implications for the use of combination therapy approaches. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2001; 20:79–86.
- [41] Miller KD, Sweeney CJ, Sledge Jr GW. The Snark is a Boojum: the continuing problem of drug resistance in the antiangiogenic era. Ann Oncol 2003;14: 20–8.
- [42] Miller KD, Sweeney CJ, Sledge Jr GW. Can tumor angiogenesis be inhibited without resistance? In: Clauss M, Breier G, editors. Mechanisms of angiogenesis. USA: Birkhäuser Basel; 2005. p. 95–112.
- [43] Leenders WP, Kusters B, Verrijp K, Maass C, Wesseling P, Heerschap A, et al. Antiangiogenic therapy of cerebral melanoma metastases results in sustained tumor progression via vessel co-option. Clin Cancer Res 2004;10: 6222–30.
- [44] Motzer RJ, Michaelson MD, Redman BG, Hudes GR, Wilding G, Figlin RA, et al. Activity of SU11248, a multitargeted inhibitor of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor and platelet-derived growth factor receptor, in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:16–24.
- [45] Xu L, Duda DG, di Tomaso E, Ancukiewicz M, Chung DC, Lauwers GY, et al. Direct evidence that bevacizumab, an Anti-VEGF antibody, up-regulates SDF1, CXCR4, CXCL6, and neuropilin 1 in tumors from patients with rectal cancer. Cancer Res 2009;69(20):7905–10.
- [46] Willett CG, Boucher Y, Duda DG, di Tomaso E, Munn LL, Tong RT, et al. Surrogate markers for antiangiogenic therapy and dose-limiting toxicities for bevacizumab with radiation and chemotherapy: continued experience of a phase I trial in rectal cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:8136–9.
- [47] Nissen LJ, Cao R, Hedlund EM, Wang Z, Zhao X, Wetterskog D, et al. Angiogenic factors FGF2 and PDGF-BB synergistically promote murine tumor neovascularization and metastasis. J Clin Invest 2007;117:2766–77.
- [48] Mancuso MR, Davis R, Norberg SM, O'Brien S, Sennino B, Nakahara T, et al. Rapid vascular regrowth in tumors after reversal of VEGF inhibition. J Clin Invest 2006;116:2610–21.
- [49] Wilhelm SM, Carter C, Tang L, Wilkie D, McNabola A, Rong H, et al. BAY 43-9006 exhibits broad spectrum oral antitumor activity and targets the RAF/MEK/ERK pathway and receptor tyrosine kinases involved in tumor progression and angiogenesis. Cancer Res 2004;64:7099-109.
- [50] Wilhelm S, Carter C, Lynch M, Lowinger T, Dumas J, Smith RA, et al. Discovery and development of sorafenib: a multikinase inhibitor for treating cancer. Nat Rev 2006;5:835-44.
- [51] Huynh H, Ngo VC, Koong HN, Poon D, Choo SP, Thng CH, et al. Sorafenib and rapamycin induce growth suppression in mouse models of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Cell Mol Med 2009;1–12.
- [52] Liu L, Cao Y, Chen C, Zhang X, McNabola A, Wilkie D, et al. Sorafenib blocks the RAF/MEK/ERK pathway, inhibits tumor angiogenesis, and induces tumor cell apoptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma model PLC/PRF/5. Cancer Res 2006:66:11851–8.
- [53] Strumberg D, Clark JW, Awada A, Moore MJ, Richly H, Hendlisz A, et al. Safety, pharmacokinetics, and preliminary antitumor activity of sorafenib: a review of four phase I trials in patients with advanced refractory solid tumors. Oncologist 2007:12:426–37.
- [54] Llovet JM, Ricci S, Mazzaferro V, Hilgard P, Gane E, Blanc JF, et al. Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2008;359:378–90.
- [55] Cheng A, Kang Y, Chen Z, Tsao C, Qin S, Kim J, et al. Randomized phase III trial of sorafenib versus placebo in Asian patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma.In: Proceedings of the 2008 ASCO annual meeting; J Clin Oncol 2008;26:15s [Abstract 4509].
- [56] Abou-Alfa GK, Johnson P, Knox J, Davidenko I, Lacava J, Leung T, et al. Final results from a phase II (PhII), randomized, double-blind study of sorafenib plus doxorubicin (S + D) versus placebo plus doxorubicin (P + D) in patients (pts) with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (AHCC). In: Proceedings of the 2008 gastrointestinal cancers symposium; 2008.
- [57] Huynh H, Ngo VC, Koong HN, Poon D, Choo SP, Toh HC, et al. AZD6244 enhances the antitumor activity of sorafenib in ectopic and orthotopic models of human hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). J Hepatol 2010;52:79–87.
- [58] Eisen T, Joensuu H, Nathan P, Harper P, Wojtukiewicz M, Nicholson S, et al. Phase II study of BAY 73-4506, a multikinase inhibitor, in previously untreated patients with metastatic or unresectable renal cell cancer. Eur J Cancer Suppl 2009;7(2):424.
- [59] Abrams TJ, Lee LB, Murray LJ, Pryer NK, Cherrington JM. SU11248 inhibits KIT and platelet-derived growth factor receptor beta in preclinical models of human small cell lung cancer. Mol Cancer Ther 2003;2:471–8.
- [60] Mendel DB, Laird AD, Xin X, Louie SG, Christensen JG, Li G, et al. In vivo antitumor activity of SU11248, a novel tyrosine kinase inhibitor targeting vascular endothelial growth factor and platelet-derived growth factor receptors: determination of a pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic relationship. Clin Cancer Res 2003;9:327–37.
- [61] Murray LJ, Abrams TJ, Long KR, Ngai TJ, Olson LM, Hong W, et al. SU11248 inhibits tumor growth and CSF-1R-dependent osteolysis in an experimental breast cancer bone metastasis model. Clin Exp Metastasis 2003;20:757-66.
- [62] O'Farrell AM, Abrams TJ, Yuen HA, Ngai TJ, Louie SG, Yee KW, et al. SU11248 is a novel FLT3 tyrosine kinase inhibitor with potent activity in vitro and in vivo. Blood 2003;101:3597–605.

- [63] Kim DW, Jo YS, Jung HS, Chung HK, Song JH, Park KC, et al. An orally administered multitarget tyrosine kinase inhibitor, SU11248, is a novel potent inhibitor of thyroid oncogenic RET/papillary thyroid cancer kinases. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2006;91:4070–6.
- [64] Chow LQ, Eckhardt SG. Sunitinib: from rational design to clinical efficacy. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:884–96.
- [65] Motzer RJ, Hutson TE, Tomczak P, Michaelson MD, Bukowski RM, Rixe O, et al. Sunitinib versus interferon alfa in metastatic renal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2007;356:115–24.
- [66] Demetri G, Van Oosterom A, Garrett C, Blackstein M, Shah M, Verweij J, et al. Efficacy and safety of Sunitinib in patients with advanced GISTs after failure of imatinib: a randomized controlled trial. Lancet 2006;368:1329–38.
- [67] Huynh H, Ngo VC, Choo SP, Poon D, Koong HN, Thng CH, et al. Sunitinib (SUTENT, SU11248) suppresses tumor growth and induces apoptosis in xenograft models of human hepatocellular carcinoma. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 2009;9:738–47.
- [68] Zhu AX, Sahani DV, di Tomaso E, Duda D, Sindhwani V, Yoon SS, et al. A phase Il study of sunitinib in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma.In: Proceedings of the 2007 ASCO annual meeting; J Clin Oncol 2007;25:18S [Abstract 4637A].
- [69] Faivre SJ, Raymond E, Douillard J, Boucher E, Lim HY, Kim JS, et al. Phase II trial investigating the efficacy and safety of sunitinib in patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Eur J Cancer Suppl 2007;5(4):270.
- [70] Zhu AX, Raymond E. Early development of sunitinib in hepatocellular carcinoma. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 2009;9:143–50.
- [71] Faivre S, Delbaldo C, Vera K, Robert C, Lozahic S, Lassau N, et al. Safety, pharmacokinetic, and antitumor activity of SU11248, a novel oral multitarget tyrosine kinase inhibitor, in patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:25–35.
- [72] Zhu AX, Duda DG, Sahani DV, Jain RK. Development of sunitinib in hepatocellular carcinoma: rationale, early clinical experience, and correlative studies. Cancer J 2009;15:263–8.
- [73] Faivre SJ, Raymond E, Douillard J, Boucher E, Lim HY, Kim JS, et al. Assessment of safety and drug-induced tumor necrosis with sunitinib in patients (pts) with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). J Clin Oncol 2007;25:18S [Abstract 3546].
- [74] Pfizer. Study of sunitinib malate versus sorafenib in patients with inoperable liver cancer. Patent NCT00699374; 2009.
- [75] Huynh H, Ngo VC, Fargnoli J, Ayers M, Soo KC, Koong HN, et al. Brivanib alaninate, a dual inhibitor of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor and fibroblast growth factor receptor tyrosine kinases, induces growth inhibition in mouse models of human hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 2008;14:6146–53.
- [76] Rosen LS, Wilding G, Sweeney C, Casale D, Kollia G, Wu C, et al. Phase I dose escalation study to determine the safety, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of BMS-582664, a VEGFR/FGFR inhibitor in patients with advanced/metastatic solid tumors.In: Proceedings of the 2006 ASCO annual meeting; I Clin Oncol 2007;24:185 [Abstract 3051].
- [77] Jonker DJ, Rosen LS, Sawyer M, Wilding G, Noberasco C, Jayson G, et al. A phase I study of BMS-582664 (brivanib alaninate), an oral dual inhibitor of VEGFR and FGFR tyrosine kinases, in patients (pts) with advanced/metastatic solid tumors: safety, pharmacokinetic (PK), and pharmacodynamic (PD) findings.In: Proceedings of the 2007 ASCO annual meeting; J Clin Oncol 2007;25:18S [Abstract 3559].
- [78] Raoul JL, Finn RS, Kang YK, Park JW, Harris R, Coric V, et al. An open-label phase II study of first- and second-line treatment with brivanib in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC).In: Proceedings of the 2009 ASCO annual meeting; J Clin Oncol 2009;27:15s [Abstract 4577].
- [79] Lee SH, Lopes DM, Vora J, Harris A, Ye H, Nordahl L, et al. In vivo target modulation and biological activity of CHIR-258, a multitargeted growth factor receptor kinase inhibitor, in colon cancer models. Clin Cancer Res 2005:11:3633-41.
- [80] Lopes de Menezes DE, Peng J, Garrett EN, Louie SG, Lee SH, Wiesmann M, et al. CHIR-258: a potent inhibitor of FLT3 kinase in experimental tumor xenograft models of human acute myelogenous leukemia. Clin Cancer Res 2005;11: 5281–91.
- [81] Kim KB, Saro J, Moschos SS, Hwu P, Tarhini AA, Hwu W, et al. A phase I dose finding and biomarker study of TKI258 (dovitinib lactate) in patients with advanced melanoma.In: Proceedings of the 2008 ASCO annual meeting; J Clin Oncol 2008;26:15s [Abstract 9026].
 [82] Harada K, Shiota G, Kawasaki H. Transforming growth factor-alpha and
- [82] Harada K, Shiota G, Kawasaki H. Transforming growth factor-alpha and epidermal growth factor receptor in chronic liver disease and hepatocellular carcinoma. Liver 1999;19:318–25.
- [83] Hisaka T, Yano H, Haramaki M, Utsunomiya I, Kojiro M. Expressions of epidermal growth factor family and its receptor in hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines: relationship to cell proliferation. Int J Oncol 1999;14:453–60.
- [84] Ito Y, Takeda T, Higashiyama S, Sakon M, Wakasa KI, Tsujimoto M, et al. Expression of heparin binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor in hepatocellular carcinoma: an immunohistochemical study. Oncol Rep 2001;8:903-7.
- [85] Matsuo M, Sakurai H, Saiki I. ZD1839, a selective epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor, shows antimetastatic activity using a hepatocellular carcinoma model. Mol Cancer Ther 2003;2:557–61.
- [86] Liu Y, Poon RT, Shao W, Sun X, Chen H, Kok TW, et al. Blockage of epidermal growth factor receptor by quinazoline tyrosine kinase inhibitors suppresses growth of human hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Lett 2007;248:32–40.

- [87] Hopfner M, Schuppan D, Scherubl H. Growth factor receptors and related signalling pathways as targets for novel treatment strategies of hepatocellular cancer. World J Gastroenterol 2008;14:1–14.
- [88] Huether A, Hopfner M, Baradari V, Schuppan D, Scherubl H. EGFR blockade by cetuximab alone or as combination therapy for growth control of hepatocellular cancer. Biochem Pharmacol 2005;70:1568–78.
- [89] Hopfner M, Sutter AP, Huether A, Schuppan D, Zeitz M, Scherubl H. Targeting the epidermal growth factor receptor by gefitinib for treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 2004;41:1008–16.
- [90] Zhu AX, Stuart K, Blaszkowsky LS, Muzikansky A, Reitberg DP, Clark JW, et al. Phase 2 study of cetuximab in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer 2007;110:581–9.
- [91] Gruenwald V, Wilkens L, Gebel M, Greten TF, Kubicka S, Ganser A, et al. A phase II open-label study of cetuxiamb in unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: final results. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:4598.
- [92] Wierzbicki R, Jonker DJ, Moore MJ, Berry SR, Loehrer PJ, Fox F, et al. A phase II multicenter study of cetuximab monotherapy in patients with EGFR-undetectable refractory metastatic colorectal carcinoma (mCRC). J Clin Oncol 2008;26 [Abstract 4065].
- [93] Louafi S, Hebbar M, Rosmorduc O, Tesmoingt C, Asnasios A, Romano O, et al. Gemcitabine, oxalaplatin and cetuximab for treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma: results of phase II study ERGO.In: Proceedings of the 2007 ASCO Annual Meeting; J Clin Oncol 2007;25:18S [Abstract 4594].
- [94] Ramanathan RK, Belani CP, Singh DA, Tanaka M, Lenz HJ, Yen Y, et al. A phase Il study of lapatinib in patients with advanced biliary tree and hepatocellular cancer. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 2009;64:777–83.
- [95] Burris III HA, Hurwitz HI, Dees EC, Dowlati A, Blackwell KL, O'Neil B, et al. Phase I safety, pharmacokinetics, and clinical activity study of lapatinib (GW572016), a reversible dual inhibitor of epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinases, in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic carcinomas. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:5305–13.
- [96] O'Dwyer PJ, Giantonio BJ, Levy DE, Kauh JS, Fitzgerald DB, Benson III AB. Gefitinib in advanced unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: results from the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group's Study E1203 Gefitinib in advanced unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: results from the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group's Study E1203.In: Proceedings of the 2006 ASCO annual meeting; | Clin Oncol 2007;24:185 | Abstract 4143|.
- [97] Philip PA, Mahoney MR, Allmer C, Thomas J, Pitot HC, Kim G, et al. Phase II study of Erlotinib (OSI-774) in patients with advanced hepatocellular cancer. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:6657–63.
- [98] Breuhahn K, Longerich T, Schirmacher P. Dysregulation of growth factor signaling in human hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncogene 2006;25:3787– 800
- [99] Huynh H, Chow PK, Ooi LL, Soo KC. A possible role for insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-3 autocrine/paracrine loops in controlling hepatocellular carcinoma cell proliferation. Cell Growth Differ 2002;13:115–22.
- [100] Tsai TF, Yauk YK, Chou CK, Ting LP, Chang C, Hu CP, et al. Evidence of autocrine regulation in human hepatoma cell lines. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1988:153:39–45.
- [101] Alexia C, Fallot G, Lasfer M, Schweizer-Groyer G, Groyer A. An evaluation of the role of insulin-like growth factors (IGF) and of type-I IGF receptor signalling in hepatocarcinogenesis and in the resistance of hepatocarcinoma cells against drug-induced apoptosis. Biochem Pharmacol 2004;68: 1003-15.
- [102] Scharf JG, Schmidt-Sandte W, Pahernik SA, Ramadori G, Braulke T, Hartmann H. Characterization of the insulin-like growth factor axis in a human hepatoma cell line (PLC). Carcinogenesis 1998;19:2121–8.
- [103] Yu H, Rohan T. Role of the insulin-like growth factor family in cancer development and progression. J Natl Cancer Inst 2000;92:1472–89.
- [104] Rowinsky EK, Youssoufian H, Tonra JR, Solomon P, Burtrum D, Ludwig DL. IMC-A12, a human IgG1 monoclonal antibody to the insulin-like growth factor I receptor. Clin Cancer Res 2007;13:5549s-55s.
- [105] Higano CS, Yu EY, Whiting SH, Gordon MS, LoRusso P, Fox F, et al. A phase I, first in man study of weekly IMC-A12, a fully human insulin like growth factor-I receptor IgG1 monoclonal antibody, in patients with advanced solid tumors.In: Proceedings of the 2007 ASCO annual meeting; J Clin Oncol 2007;25:185 [Abstract 3505].
- [106] Manara MC, Landuzzi L, Nanni P, Nicoletti G, Zambelli D, Lollini PL, et al. Preclinical in vivo study of new insulin-like growth factor-I receptor-specific inhibitor in Ewing's sarcoma. Clin Cancer Res 2007;13:1322–30.
- [107] Hofmann F, Brueggen J, Capraro HG, Cozens R, Evans DB, Fabbro D, et al. In vitro and in vivo profiling of selective and potent IGF-IR kinase inhibitors. Proc AACR 2003;44:37985.
- [108] Burtrum D, Zhu Z, Lu D, Anderson DM, Prewett M, Pereira DS, et al. A fully human monoclonal antibody to the insulin-like growth factor I receptor blocks ligand-dependent signaling and inhibits human tumor growth in vivo. Cancer Res 2003;63:8912–21.
- [109] Higano CS, Alumkal JJ, Ryan CJ, Yu EY, Beer TM, Fox FE, et al. A phase II study of cixutumumab (IMC-A12), a monoclonal antibody (MAb) against the insulinlike growth factor 1 receptor (IGF-IR), monotherapy in metastatic castrationresistant prostate cancer (mCRPC): feasibility of every 3-week dosing and updated result.In: Proceedings of the 2010 genitourinary cancers symposium; J Clin Oncol 2010 [Abstract 189].
- [110] Carboni JM, Wittman M, Yang Z, Lee F, Greer A, Hurlburt W, et al. BMS-754807, a small molecule inhibitor of insulin-like growth factor-1R/IR. Mol Cancer Ther 2009;12(8):3341–9.

- [111] Desbois-Mouthon C, Cacheux W, Blivet-Van Eggelpoel MJ, Barbu V, Fartoux L, Poupon R, et al. Impact of IGF-1R/EGFR cross-talks on hepatoma cell sensitivity to gefitinib. Int J Cancer 2006;119:2557–66.
- [112] Hopfner M, Huether A, Sutter AP, Baradari V, Schuppan D, Scherubl H. Blockade of IGF-1 receptor tyrosine kinase has antineoplastic effects in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Biochem Pharmacol 2006;71:1435–48.
- [113] Huether A, Hopfner M, Sutter AP, Schuppan D, Scherubl H. Erlotinib induces cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in hepatocellular cancer cells and enhances chemosensitivity towards cytostatics. J Hepatol 2005;43:661–9.
- [114] Kaposi-Novak P, Lee JS, Gomez-Quiroz L, Coulouarn C, Factor VM, Thorgeirsson SS. Met-regulated expression signature defines a subset of human hepatocellular carcinomas with poor prognosis and aggressive phenotype. J Clin Invest 2006;116:1582–95.
- [115] Osada S, Kanematsu M, Imai H, Goshima S. Clinical significance of serum HGF and c-Met expression in tumor tissue for evaluation of properties and treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatogastroenterology 2008;55: 544-9.
- [116] Park WS, Dong SM, Kim SY, Na EY, Shin MS, Pi JH, et al. Somatic mutations in the kinase domain of the Met/hepatocyte growth factor receptor gene in childhood hepatocellular carcinomas. Cancer Res 1999;59:307–10.
- [117] Lee JH, Han SÛ, Cho H, Jennings B, Gerrard B, Dean M, et al. A novel germ line juxtamembrane Met mutation in human gastric cancer. Oncogene 2000;19: 4947-53.
- [118] Pena C, Shan M, Wilhelm S, Lathia C. Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) is a prognostic biomarker for overall survival and a pharmacodynamic biomarker for sorafenib response in the SHARP phase III HCC trial. In: Proceedings of the ESMO Congress; 2008.
- [119] Comoglio PM, Giordano S, Trusolino L. Drug development of MET inhibitors: targeting oncogene addiction and expedience. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2008;7:504–16.
- [120] Qian F, Engst S, Yamaguchi K, Yu P, Won KA, Mock L, et al. Inhibition of tumor cell growth, invasion, and metastasis by EXEL-2880 (XL880, GSK1363089), a novel inhibitor of HGF and VEGF receptor tyrosine kinases. Cancer Res 2009;69(20):8009–16.
- [121] LoRusso P, Eder JP, Sherman L, McCallum S, Liu Y, Bottaro D, et al. Final results of a phase I dose escalation study of the safety and pharmacokinetics of foretinib administered orally daily to patients with solid tumors. In: Proceedings of the 2009 AACR-NCI-EORTC international conference; Mol Cancer Ther 2009 [Abstract A8].
- [122] Hynes NE, Lane HA. ERBB receptors and cancer: the complexity of targeted inhibitors. Nat Rev Cancer 2005;5:341–54.
- [123] Giambartolomei S, Covone F, Levrero M, Balsano C. Sustained activation of the Raf/MEK/Erk pathway in response to EGF in stable cell lines expressing the Hepatitis C Virus (HCV) core protein. Oncogene 2001;20:2606–10.
- [124] Hwang YH, Choi JY, Kim S, Chung ES, Kim T, Koh SS, et al. Over-expression of c-raf-1 proto-oncogene in liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatol Res 2004;29:113–21.
- [125] Lee HC, Tian B, Sedivy JM, Wands JR, Kim M. Loss of Raf kinase inhibitor protein promotes cell proliferation and migration of human hepatoma cells. Gastroenterology 2006;131:1208-17.
- [126] Villanueva A, Newell P, Chiang DY, Friedman SL, Llovet JM. Genomics and signaling pathways in hepatocellular carcinoma. Semin Liver Dis 2007;27: 55-76
- [127] Mckillop IH, Schmidt CM, Cahill PA, Sitzmann JV. Altered expression of mitogen-activated protein kinases in a rat model of experimental hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 1997;26:1484–91.
- [128] Schmidt CM, McKillop IH, Cahill PA, Sitzmann JV. Increased MAPK expression and activity in primary human hepatocellular carcinoma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1997;236:54–8.
- [129] Wentz SC, Wu H, Yip-Schneider MT, Hennig M, Klein PJ, Sebolt-Leopold J, et al. Targeting MEK is effective chemoprevention of hepatocellular carcinoma in TGF-alpha-transgenic mice. J Gastrointest Surg 2008;12:30–7.
- [130] Huynh H, Soo KC, Chow PK, Tran E. Targeted inhibition of the extracellular signal-regulated kinase kinase pathway with AZD6244 (ARRY-142886) in the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Mol Cancer Ther 2007;6: 138-46.
- [131] Huynh H. AZD6244 (ARRY-142886) enhances the antitumor activity of rapamycin in mouse models of human hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer 2010;116(5):1315–25.
- [132] Vivanco I, Sawyers CL. The phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase AKT pathway in human cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2002;2:489–501.
- [133] Schmitz KJ, Wohlschlaeger J, Lang H, Sotiropoulos GC, Malago M, Steveling K, et al. Activation of the ERK and AKT signalling pathway predicts poor prognosis in hepatocellular carcinoma and ERK activation in cancer tissue is associated with hepatitis C virus infection. J Hepatol 2008;48:83–90.
- [134] Boyault S, Rickman DS, de Reynies A, Balabaud C, Rebouissou S, Jeannot E, et al. Transcriptome classification of HCC is related to gene alterations and to new therapeutic targets. Hepatology 2007;45:42–52.
- [135] Sahin F, Kannangai R, Adegbola O, Wang J, Su G, Torbenson M. mTOR and P70 S6 kinase expression in primary liver neoplasms. Clin Cancer Res 2004;10:8421–5.
- [136] Horie Y, Suzuki A, Kataoka E, Sasaki T, Hamada K, Sasaki J, et al. Hepatocytespecific Pten deficiency results in steatohepatitis and hepatocellular carcinomas. J Clin Invest 2004;113:1774–83.
- [137] Amaravadi R, Thompson CB. The survival kinases Akt and Pim as potential pharmacological targets. J Clin Invest 2005;115:2618–24.

- [138] Lee TK, Man K, Ho JW, Sun CK, Ng KT, Wang XH, et al. FTY720 induces apoptosis of human hepatoma cell lines through PI3-K-mediated Akt dephosphorylation. Carcinogenesis 2004;25:2397–405.
- [139] Semela D, Piguet AC, Kolev M, Schmitter K, Hlushchuk R, Djonov V, et al. Vascular remodelling and antitumoral effects of mTOR inhibition in a rat model of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 2007;46:840–8.
- [140] Huynh H, Chow P, Soo KC, Toh HC, Choo SP, Foo KF, et al. RAD001 (Everolimus) inhibits tumor growth in xenograft models of human hepatocellular carcinoma. J Cell Mol Med 2009;13(7):1371–80.
- [141] Dudkin L, Dilling MB, Cheshire PJ, Harwood FC, Hollingshead M, Arbuck SG, et al. Biochemical correlates of mTOR inhibition by the rapamycin ester CCI-779 and tumor growth inhibition. Clin Cancer Res 2001;7:1758–64
- [142] Wullschleger S, Loewith R, Hall MN. TOR signaling in growth and metabolism. Cell 2006;124:471–84.
- [143] Rizell M, Andersson M, Cahlin C, Hafstrom L, Olausson M, Lindner P. Effects of the mTOR inhibitor sirolimus in patients with hepatocellular and cholangiocellular cancer. Int J Clin Oncol 2008;13:66–70.
- [144] Rizell M, Lindner P. Inhibition of mTOR suppresses experimental liver tumors. Anticancer Res 2005;25:789–93.
- [145] Fouladi M, Laningham F, Wu J, O'Shaughnessy MA, Molina K, Broniscer A, et al. Phase I study of everolimus in pediatric patients with refractory solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:4806–12.
- [146] Sieghart W, Fuereder T, Schmid K, Cejka D, Werzowa J, Wrba F, et al. Mammalian target of rapamycin pathway activity in hepatocellular carcinomas of patients undergoing liver transplantation. Transplantation 2007;83:425–32.
- [147] Ribatti D, Nico B, Mangieri D, Longo V, Sansonno D, Vacca A, et al. In vivo inhibition of human hepatocellular carcinoma related angiogenesis by vinblastine and rapamycin. Histol Histopathol 2007;22:285–9.
- [148] Bromberg JF. Activation of STAT proteins and growth control. Bioessays 2001;23:161-9.
- [149] Kisseleva T, Bhattacharya S, Braunstein J, Schindler CW. Signaling through the JAK/STAT pathway, recent advances and future challenges. Gene 2002;285: 1–24.
- [150] Yun C, Cho H, Kim SJ, Lee JH, Park SY, Chan GK, et al. Mitotic aberration coupled with centrosome amplification is induced by hepatitis B virus X oncoprotein via the Ras-mitogen-activated protein/extracellular signalregulated kinase-mitogen-activated protein pathway. Mol Cancer Res 2004;2:159-69.
- [151] Yoshida T, Hanada T, Tokuhisa T, Kosai K, Sata M, Kohara M, et al. Activation of STAT3 by the hepatitis C virus core protein leads to cellular transformation. J Exp Med 2002;196:641–53.
- [152] Hayashi J, Aoki H, Kajino K, Moriyama M, Arakawa Y, Hino O. Hepatitis C virus core protein activates the MAPK/ERK cascade synergistically with tumor promoter TPA, but not with epidermal growth factor or transforming growth factor alpha. Hepatology 2000;32:958–61.

- [153] Calvisi DF, Ladu S, Gorden A, Farina M, Conner EA, Lee JS, et al. Ubiquitous activation of Ras and Jak/Stat pathways in human HCC. Gastroenterology 2006:130:1117–28.
- [154] Isaacs JS, Xu W, Neckers L. Heat shock protein 90 as a molecular target for cancer therapeutics. Cancer Cell 2003;3:213-7.
- [155] Zhang H, Burrows F. Targeting multiple signal transduction pathways through inhibition of Hsp90. J Mol Med 2004;82:488–99.
- [156] Pascale RM, Simile MM, Calvisi DF, Frau M, Muroni MR, Seddaiu MA, et al. Role of HSP90, CDC37, and CRM1 as modulators of P16(INK4A) activity in rat liver carcinogenesis and human liver cancer. Hepatology 2005;42:1310–9.
- [157] Lang SA, Moser C, Fichnter-Feigl S, Schachtschneider P, Hellerbrand C, Schmitz V, et al. Targeting heat-shock protein 90 improves efficacy of rapamycin in a model of hepatocellular carcinoma in mice. Hepatology 2009;49:523–32.
- [158] Nowakowski GS, McCollum AK, Ames MM, Mandrekar SJ, Reid JM, Adjei AA, et al. A phase I trial of twice-weekly 17-allylamino-demethoxy-geldanamycin in patients with advanced cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2006;12:6087–93.
- [159] Sydor JR, Normant E, Pien CS, Porter JR, Ge J, Grenier L, et al. Development of 17-allylamino-17-demethoxygeldanamycin hydroquinone hydrochloride (IPI-504), an anti-cancer agent directed against Hsp90. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006;103:17408-13.
- [160] Breinig M, Caldas-Lopes E, Goeppert B, Malz M, Rieker R, Bergmann F, et al. Targeting heat shock protein 90 with non-quinone inhibitors: a novel chemotherapeutic approach in human hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 2009:50:102-12
- [161] Kefford R, Millward M, Hersey P, Brady B, Graham M, Johnson RG, et al. Phase Il trial of tanespimycin (KOS-953), a heat shock protein-90 (Hsp90) inhibitor in patients with metastatic melanoma.In: Proceedings of the 2007 ASCO annual meeting; J Clin Oncol 2007;25:18S [Abstract 8558].
- [162] Ciardiello F, Troiani T, Bianco R, Orditura M, Morgillo F, Martinelli E, et al. Interaction between the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) pathways: a rational approach for multi-target anticancer therapy. Ann Oncol 2006;17(Suppl. 7):vii109–14.
- [163] Tortora G, Caputo R, Damiano V, Melisi D, Bianco R, Fontanini G, et al. Combination of a selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor with epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor ZD1839 and protein kinase A antisense causes cooperative antitumor and antiangiogenic effect. Clin Cancer Res 2003:9:1566-72.
- [164] Ganslmayer M, Ocker M, Kraemer G, Zopf S, Hahn EG, Schuppan D, et al. The combination of tamoxifen and 9cis retinoic acid exerts overadditive antitumoral efficacy in rat hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 2004;40:952–6.
- [165] Ganslmayer M, Ocker M, Zopf S, Leitner S, Hahn EG, Schuppan D, et al. A quadruple therapy synergistically blocks proliferation and promotes apoptosis of hepatoma cells. Oncol Rep 2004;11:943–50.
- [166] Herold C, Ganslmayer M, Ocker M, Blauberger S, Zopf S, Hahn EG, et al. Overadditive anti-proliferative and pro-apoptotic effects of a combination therapy on colorectal carcinoma cells. Int | Oncol 2003;23:751-6.